Case #: 1033702

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/15/2024 9:39 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON ____

CLERK

No.		

SUPREME CO Case #F 1033792 ATE OF WASHINGTON

CITIZEN ACTION DEFENSE FUND, a Washington nonprofit,

Appellant,

V.

WASHINGTON STATE OFFICE OF FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT in the OFFICE OF THE GOVERNOR, an agency of the State of Washington,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

JACKSON WILDER MAYNARD, JR. WSBA No. 43481

SAM SPIEGELMAN WSBA No. 58212

CITIZEN ACTION DEFENSE FUND 111 21st Ave SW Olympia, WA 98501 Telephone: (850) 519-3495

Attorneys for Petitioner

IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
V.	GROUNDS FOR REVIEW6
Е	A. PAWS and Related Cases Outlined a Disclosure-Oriented Process
	Types of Records Reviewed in PAWS
Γ	O. OFM Waived Any Exemption by Referencing the
Е	Records in Public Action
VI.	PRAYER FOR RELIEF

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES

American Civil Liberties Union v. City of Seattle, 121 Wn. App. 544, 89 P.3d 295 (2004)
Brouillet v. Cowles Pub'g Co.,
114 Wn.2d 788, 791 P.2d 526 (1990)
<i>Hearst Corp. v. Hoppe</i> , 90 Wn.2d 123, 134, 580 P.2d 246 (1978)
Progressive Animal Welfare Soc'y v. Univ. of Wash., 125 Wn.2d 243, 251-252, 884 P.2d 592 (1994) passim
West v. Port of Olympia, 146 Wn. App. 108, 117, 192 P.3d 926, 931 (2008) 10, 11
<i>Zink v. City of Mesa</i> , 140 Wn. App. 328, 344, 166 P.3d 738, 746 (2007) 16, 17
STATUTES
RCW 41.80.010(1)
RCW 41.8 0 .13 0
RCW 42.56.100
RCW 42.56.280 passim
OTHER AUTHORITIES
About the Collective Bargaining Process. OFM. Wa.Gov, Office
of Financial Management, https://ofm.wa.gov/state-human-
resources/labor-relations/collective-bargaining-
agreements/about-collective-bargaining-process
Governor Jay Inslee's Proposed Operating Budget. Office of Financial Management,

https://app.leg.wa.gov/committeeschedules/Home/Document/247189#toolbar=0&navpanes=0. Accessed 20 Feb. 20235
See Budget and Policy Highlights. Office of the Governor, https://ofm.wa.gov/sites/default/files/public/budget/statebudget/highlights/budget23/202325PolicyBudgetHighlights.pdf 5
Statewide Contract No. 24723—Janitorial Services, §16.2, Washington Department of Enterprise services. Available at https://apps.des.wa.gov/contracting/24723Solicitation.pdf 18
Statewide Contract No. XXX – IT services, Washington Department of Enterprise Services. Available at https://apps.des.wa.gov/contracting/14822%20Project%20Management%20Contract%20Accenture%20-%20signed.pdf

I. IDENTIFY MOVING PARTY

Petitioner Citizen Action Defense Fund ("CADF") is a Washington non-profit corporation. CADF was the Plaintiff and Respondent below.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Division II of the Court of Appeals issued an opinion on July 16, 2024, ("the Opinion"), attached as Appendix A, overturning the trial court's decision, attached as Appendix B, finding that the Office of Financial Management ("OFM") had violated the Public Records Act ("PRA") by withholding records of negotiation with a third party after the parties had signed agreements.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

This case presents two questions meriting review.

1. In a negotiation, what event or action ends the deliberative process and requires an agency to disclose records that were part of that negotiation?

2. Does an agency waive the deliberative process exemption as to negotiation documents where it publishes the agreement it reached and referenced negotiation documents in so doing?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

There are two groups of facts that define this case. The first and most simple set relates to the parties' actions that led to this petition. The second set relates to the procedural steps and timeline for approval of the state collective bargaining agreements. This set is relevant because the parties agree that OFM's denial of the request was appropriate only if this Court finds that the records sought are covered by RCW 42.56.280, the "deliberative process" exemption, and relate to an ongoing deliberation.

Petitioner asked Respondent for records on October 20, 2022. CADF requested the state and unions' opening offers in negotiations for the statewide collective bargaining agreements for 2023-2025. CP 6, 13. The agency responded on October 26, 2022, refusing to disclose the records. CP 13. OFM refused to

produce the records and claimed they were exempt from disclosure under RCW 42.56.280, commonly referred to as the "deliberative process exemption."

To justify this decision, OFM claimed that:

[a]lthough the tentative agreements have been signed, and will be available on our website soon, underlying negotiation-related material continues to be exempt until final legislative approval of funding (typically this means when the budgets are signed by the governor).

Until that time, the agreements are not final and the records you have requested are exempt as part of a deliberative process under RCW 42.56.280.

CP 6,7 & CP 13. The parties quickly focused on the issue that is now before this Court—when a record stops being "predecisional," and therefore nonexempt under §280. At the trial court, CADF pointed out that OFM's message above misstates the facts. CP 22. OFM represents the interests of the State of Washington as the governor's designee, in negotiations with unionized state employees. *See* RCW 41.80.010(1) ("For the purpose of negotiating collective bargaining agreements under this chapter, the [state] employer shall be represented by

the governor or governor's designee[.]") As OFM states on its website, "OFM manages the collective bargaining process on behalf of the Governor with union-represented state employees. Every two years the State negotiates with unions to modify and reach new collective bargaining agreements." As of the date of Petitioner's initial request, OFM and representatives from each relevant union had signed the negotiated agreements. CP 7, 13.

After negotiations end, the Governor must present the negotiated, signed agreements ("signed agreements") to the legislature as one budget proposal which it must approve or reject as a whole. RCW 41.80.010(3). Governor Inslee introduced his proposed budget in legislation identified as the 2023-25 Operating Appropriations Bill (HB 1140 / SB 5187) on January

¹ About the Collective Bargaining Process. OFM.Wa.Gov, Office of Financial Management, https://ofm.wa.gov/state-human-resources/labor-relations/collective-bargaining-process. Accessed 20 Feb. 2023.

5 and 6, 2023. The Governor's budget was available to the public and Legislature on OFM's website since December 14, 2022.²

When OFM posted the proposed budget, it also posted a letter from Michaela Doelman, Chief Human Resources Officer for the State Human Resources Division, to the Director of OFM, David Schumacher, along with the signed agreements for each bargaining unit. CP 67.³ In the letter, Ms. Doelman makes direct mention of what was "offered" to employees. *Id.* Petitioner filed the complaint on December 15, 2022.

² See Budget and Policy Highlights. Office of the Governor, https://ofm.wa.gov/sites/default/files/public/budget/statebudget/highlights/budget23/202325PolicyBudgetHighlights.pdf
Accessed 20 Feb. 2023; Governor Jay Inslee's Proposed Operating Budget. Office of Financial Management, https://app.leg.wa.gov/committeeschedules/Home/Document/247189#toolbar=0&navpanes=0. Accessed 20 Feb. 2023.

³ Official 2023-2025 Collective Bargaining Submittal. Michaela Doelman, September 20, 2022, https://ofm.wa.gov/sites/default/files/public/legacy/agencycommunications/FY2023/2023-25_October12022_OfficialSubmittal_EE_FINAL_Updated.pdf Accessed 20Feb. 2023.

There were no differences between the signed agreements and the Governor's presentation to the Legislature. OFM finished negotiating the agreements in October.

V. GROUNDS FOR REVIEW

Review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4). The Opinion conflicts with this Court's decision in *PAWS* and other seminal PRA cases. This conflict is made obvious when comparing the Opinion to Division I's decisions on the same issues, decisions that the Opinion brushes aside as non-binding. The Opinion also creates an expansive exemption from disclosure under the PRA, an issue of substantial public importance.

A. PAWS and Related Cases Outlined a Disclosure-Oriented Process.

PAWS summarized the many ways the PRA expresses the simple premise at the center of the law: the people have a right to know. Progressive Animal Welfare Soc'y v. Univ. of Wash., 125 Wn.2d 243, 251-252, 884 P.2d 592 (1994) ("PAWS"). But PAWS does not just restate the statute, it explains the goals.

"Without tools such as the Public Records Act, government of the people, by the people, for the people, risks becoming government of the people, by the bureaucrats, for the special interests." *Id.* According to *PAWS*, the goal is accountability in a way that empowers the people. Disclosure is necessary to that goal, but it is not sufficient. As *PAWS* notes, timely disclosure is also part of the PRA's system of oversight. See e.g., PAWS at 256, (holding that records are only exempt under §280 where the withholding agency can prove that they are "predecisional"); PAWS at 257 (citing Brouillet v. Cowles Pub'g Co., 114 Wn.2d 788, 791 P.2d 526 (1990)) ("Cowles"), for the rule that once policies are implemented, there is no exemption under §280). See also, RCW 42.56.100 (requiring agencies provide the fullest and most timely assistance to requesters).

PAWS applied these principles to two categories of records: "pink sheets" and "unfunded grant proposals." The Plaintiff animal rights group asked the University of Washington ("UW")

for these records when trying to show the cruelty of animal research.

The grant proposals described research that scientists at UW wanted to perform that had been approved by the university but still needed to financial support. *PAWS* at 247-249. They were the result of several rounds of internal review and discussion within UW. *Id.* Then, after the UW had finalized the proposals, they were sent to the National Institute for Health (NIH) to request funding. There, a group of NIH scientists reviewed them to allocate grant funds. This review included incorporating the scientists' opinions and recommendations into a document, the "pink sheet," which was returned to the grant requester when NIH decided to pass on the proposal. *Id.* The UW is permitted to resubmit the proposal, a step it commonly takes. *Id.*

UW refused to disclose both categories, asserting several grounds for withholding them. Relevant here, UW argued the documents were protected by the deliberative process exemption. This Court held that the grant proposals were not

exempt, pointing out "[the exemption's] purpose is to 'protect the give and take of deliberations necessary to formulation of agency policy." *PAWS*, 125 Wn. 2d at 256 (citing *Hearst Corp. v. Hoppe*, 90 Wn.2d 123, 134, 580 P.2d 246 (1978) (cleaned up). But also held that the pink sheets were exempt as deliberative unless the proposal was funded. *PAWS*, 125 Wn.2d at 257.

PAWS, like almost every PRA opinion from this Court, reiterated the requirement that exemptions be read narrowly, when ordering disclosure of unfunded grant proposals. PAWS, 125 Wn.2d at 260. In upholding that principle, PAWS applied Cowles' holding that the deliberative process exemption did not apply to records related to policy implementation in a new way. Instead of using the timing as an indicator to show whether a record relates to policy decision or a policy implementation, a potential reading of Cowles, PAWS made clear that the timing is decisive; once a decision is made, the records that led to it become records about implementation and nonexempt. See PAWS at 256, 257 (requiring withholding agencies to prove a

document is still predecisional to invoke the deliberative process exemption and citing *Cowles*, 114 WN.2d a7 799-800 for the proposition that "Once the policies or recommendations are implemented, the records cease to be protected under this exemption" to justify its categorical treatment of completed policy making processes).

B. Division I Properly Applied This Jurisprudence.

The Opinion directly rejects a decision out of Division I on similar facts. In *West v. Port of Olympia*, 146 Wn. App. 108, 117, 192 P.3d 926, 931 (2008), Division I held that when a government agency had executed a lease prior to a records request, documents related to the lease were not exempt under §280. This decision overturned the trial court's finding that the agency had a continuing obligation to negotiate with the same party, which might be adversely affected by disclosure. In so holding, Division I also clarified a case, *American Civil Liberties Union v. City of Seattle*, 121 Wn. App. 544, 89 P.3d 295 (2004) ("*ACLU*"). In *ACLU*, requester ACLU sought records related to collective bargaining

with the City's police officer's union. Seattle City Council was the legislative body that had to approve the signed agreement between the City and the union. *ACLU*, 121 Wn. App. At 553-554. Division I held "that the exemption applied only until the *results of the policy-making process were presented* to the city council for adoption." *West*, 146 Wn. App at 118 (summarizing the holding from *ACLU*) (emphasis added).

C. Division II Rejected Those Proper Applications of *PAWS*.

Division II misunderstood *PAWS* in two ways that Division I did not. First, it treated the decision as a monolith, rather than carefully reviewing which documents the court was discussing at each point. Second, it did not even reference the extensive discussion of legislative goals *PAWS* presented. These flaws demonstrate conflict with *PAWS* and with Division I, meriting review.

i. The Opinion Does Not Differentiate Between Types of Records Reviewed in *PAWS*.

The Opinion points to the *PAWS* decision to withhold "pink sheets" as if those were the only records at issue. Opinion at 8. But though the pink sheets received more discussion, *PAWS* largely upheld the order that the Court of Appeals had issued requiring disclosure of the unfunded grant proposals.

Based on this Court's conclusion, the unfunded grant proposals represented the culmination of the UW's arduous decision-making process. There was always a chance the agency would have to reenter that process, this time relying on the information provided in the pink sheets, to try again to persuade the NIH to fund the research at issue. But *PAWS* shows that this potential reopening of consideration did not change the fact that the agency had reached a decision. It had stopped deliberating.

If the Court of Appeals had properly applied that logic here, it would have seen that the signed agreements were the end of the agency's deliberative process, just like the grant proposals in *PAWS*

and the signed CBA in ACLU. When the grant proposals were written, no research had begun, no actions had been taken. But the plan for what the agency wanted to do if the funding agency approved was complete. This description fits the signed agreements perfectly. The statutory language in RCW 41.80 supports this view as well. The law does not allow the parties to modify the agreements based on the legislature's actions, nor does it allow the legislature to modify them. RCW 41.80010(3)(b) (empowering the governor to ask the legislature to fund the agreements, but not granting any opportunity to seek the legislature's input; mandating that if the legislature does not fund the proposed budget portion, "either party may reopen all or part of the agreement.") In signing the agreements, OFM and the agencies agree that, if the funding materializes, this is what they will do. If it does not, they must "reopen" negotiations for new agreements. If either the union or the employer refused to act as the signed agreements dictate, once funding is appropriated, then they would be violating an agreement by which they are already bound. See RCW 41.80.130 (establishing a procedure to enforce a collective bargaining agreement). Surely by the time an agency binds itself to a plan to spend hundreds of thousands of taxpayer dollars, it has made a decision that the public has a right to scrutinize.

ii. The Opinion Ignored *PAWS*' Thorough Treatment of the Rules of Construction for PRA Exemptions.

Unlike *PAWS*' careful observance of the mandate to transparency, the Opinion below read the deliberative process exemption in the broadest possible manner. The trial court and Court of Appeals were asked when a decision is made for the purposes of "predecisional" documents. That question should have been answered in the way that comports with the mandate to read exemptions narrowly, finding that a decision occurs at the earliest reasonable time, thereby reaching the narrowest reading of the exemption. The trial court followed the mandate, but the Court of Appeals did not. Instead, the Opinion fixated on the word "implemented" in *PAWS*, misreading it to require that a decision be implemented to be complete. Opinion at 8. But *PAWS* uses that

word when applying *Cowles*. *PAWS* 125 Wn.2d at 257. *Cowles*, in turn, cites *Hearst Corp. v. Hoppe*, 90 Wn.2d 123, 133, 580 P.2d 246 (1978), *Cowles* 114 Wn.2d 799-800, which finally gives the complete quote: "opinions or recommendations actually implemented as policy lose their protection when adopted by the agency." Once the policy discussion is over, the exemption expires. Once the agency adopts the policy, the exemption expires. Here, any policy formulation occurred before the governor requested funds to enact that policy.

But Division II brushed aside comparisons, saying it is not bound by its sister courts, but by its reading of this Court's PAWS decision. While technically true, this statement of fact does not justify the Opinion. PAWS did not mandate withholding records that were sent to a third party for funding after an extensive presubmission discussion. But it did order that the preference for narrow exemptions be the guiding spirit for all PRA cases. And if the sister court found a narrower reading, while applying the same case law, then it has strong reason to consider that court's

conclusion. Even if Division II's interpretation is a reasonable reading of §280, it is still wrong because Division I's interpretation is reasonable and a narrower exemption. This Court should review to reverse.

D. OFM Waived Any Exemption by Referencing the Records in Public Action

Once a publicly available agency document references a document which would have been otherwise exempt under §280, the exemption no longer applies. In her letter to Director Schumacher, Ms. Doelman describes OFM's goals in negotiation in detail. *See* Maynard Declaration, Exhibit D. She talks about what the agency "prioritized," "sought," and most tellingly, "offered." These references to the actions or positions OFM took in negotiation waive any privilege §280 might have provided for documentation of those actions or positions. In the only case applying this portion of §280, *Zink v. City of New Mesa*, Division III held that when the city issued a building permit denial which referenced complaints received from neighbors, §280 did not

prevent disclosure because the complaints were "publicly cited by an agency in connection with an agency action." *Zink v. City of Mesa*, 140 Wn. App. 328, 344, 166 P.3d 738, 746 (2007) (citing RCW 42.56.280). Here, the letter describes itself as the "Official 2021 Collective Bargaining Submittal" and purports to describe the "priorities and outcomes of collective bargaining." This Court must decide whether these references to what OFM offered and did in negotiation trigger the exception included in §280.

E. The Opinion Blows a Hole in the PRA.

If allowed to stand, the Opinion will make all agencies actions, which could later be changed or renegotiated opportunities, to keep the public in the dark. Compare the records here with the myriad of multi-year contracts the Department of Enterprise Services ("DES") creates every year. DES includes a provision in its contracts that terminates the contract, regardless of the term of the agreement, if there is a change in available funds. "A change of available funds as used in this section

includes but is not limited to a change in Federal or State funding, whether as a result of a legislative act or by order of the President or the Governor."⁴ This looming potential modification to the term of the contract, under the reasoning of Division II, could reasonably be viewed as a part of the decision. The Contract, therefore, would not be considered executed until the full term had expired or the contract had been terminated some other way.

This hypothetical demonstrates both the absurdity of the Opinion and the danger it poses. Of course, a decision was already made when the contract was entered. The contracts term

⁴ See e.g., Statewide Contract No. XXX – IT services, Washington Department of Enterprise Services. Available at https://apps.des.wa.gov/contracting/14822%20Project%20Management%20Contract%20Accenture%20-%20signed.pdf (last visited Aug. 7, 2024); Statewide Contract No. 24723—Janitorial Services, §16.2, Washington Department of Enterprise services. Available at https://apps.des.wa.gov/contracting/24723Solicitation.pdf (last visited Aug. 7, 2024).

is merely contingent on the funding, which is outside the contracting agency's control.

VI. PRAYER FOR RELIEF

Petitioner asks this Court to grant review of both questions.

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