FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/16/2024 11:51 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 103,370-2

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CITIZEN ACTION DEFENSE FUND, a Washington nonprofit,

Appellant,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE OFFICE OF FINANCIAL MANAGMENT in the OFFICE OF THE GOVERNOR, an agency of the State of Washington,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

SARA L. WILMOT Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 56898 Office of the Attorney General 1116 W. Riverside Avenue, Suite 100 Spokane, WA 99201-1106 (509) 456-3213

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

IV. REASONS WHY THE COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

CADF fails to establish any of the criteria for discretionary review under RAP 13.4. The Court of Appeals correctly relied on this Court's long-standing precedent regarding the deliberative process exemption. The Opinion is consistent with other opinions of the Court of Appeals and this Court and properly accounts for the unique role of the Legislature in the State's statutory collective bargaining process. Finally, in response to CADF's new argument, OFM did not waive its ability to assert the deliberative process exemption over its original collective bargaining offers simply by using the word "offer" to summarize and describe the State's response to COVID-19.

A. The Court of Appeals Correctly Applied the Deliberative Process Exemption Test from *PAWS* to RCW 41.80.010

CADF argues that the Court of Appeals did not properly consider *PAWS*. Yet, the Court of Appeals considered and

applied a straightforward reading of *PAWS*, and CADF provides no argument or support for an alternate application.

The four-part test developed in *PAWS* is widely recognized as the controlling law regarding the deliberative process exemption to the PRA. The *PAWS* test holds that in order to invoke the deliberative process exemption, an agency must show:

[T]hat the records contain predecisional opinions or recommendations of subordinates expressed as part of a deliberative process; that disclosure would be injurious to the deliberative or consultative function of the process; that disclosure would inhibit the flow of recommendations, observations, and opinions; and finally, that the materials covered by the exemption reflect policy [based] recommendations and opinions and not the raw factual data on which a decision is based.

PAWS, 125 Wn.2d at 256. The only factor in dispute here is whether the bargaining proposals were still "pre-decisional" at the time of CADF's request. Petition for Review (Pet.) at 11, 14. CADF does not dispute that any of the other *PAWS* steps are satisfied. *Id*.

In PAWS, the relevant records requested were unfunded research grant proposals submitted by the University of Washington and the "pink sheets" used by scientists to evaluate these proposals during the peer review process. PAWS, 125 Wn.2d at 248-249. CADF argues that the Court of Appeals failed to properly analyze the distinction between the grant proposals and "pink sheets" discussed in PAWS and the distinction between tentative agreements and the original offers at issue here. Pet. at 11. But contrary to CADF's claim, the Opinion *did* acknowledge that *PAWS* dealt with two different kinds of records. Citizen Action Def. Fund, 552 P.3d at 346 ("The court held that '[w]hile the unfunded grant proposal itself does not reveal or expose the kind of deliberate or policymaking process contemplated by the exemption, the so-called "pink sheets" do."") (quoting PAWS, 125 Wn.2d at 257).

The *PAWS* Court concluded that "pink sheets" and other aspects of the proposal related to the deliberative process were exempt from disclosure until the proposal was funded, but

allowed the release of portions of the grant proposal that were not deliberative. PAWS, 125 Wn.2d at 257, 272. As the PAWS Court noted earlier in its opinion, the proposals themselves had already been made available to the public in open public meetings and thus further disclosure could not reveal or expose deliberation. Id. at 248, 257. The unfunded grant proposals in PAWS are analogous to the tentative agreements, which are presented to the Legislature for funding and are required to be made available to the public prior to approval and implementation. RCW 43.88.583. The State is not arguing that they are subject to the deliberative process exemption. Yet, in both cases, the underlying material used to evaluate and develop those proposals ("pink sheets" and earlier bargaining proposals, respectively) were exempt as part of the ongoing deliberative process until the proposals were implemented. PAWS, 125 Wn.2d at 257; Citizen Action Def. Fund, 552 P.3d at 346.

The *PAWS* Court wrote, "Once the policies or recommendations are implemented, the records cease to be protected under this exemption." *PAWS*, 125 Wn.2d at 257. The Court held, "[o]nce the proposal becomes funded, it clearly becomes 'implemented' for purposes of this exemption." *Id*.

In the present matter, the only disputed part of the *PAWS* test was when the original bargaining offers are no longer "predecisional" and therefore must be disclosed under the PRA. Citizen Action Def. Fund, 552 P.3d at 344; Pet. at 3; CP at 191, 192. In analyzing this question, the Court of Appeals correctly followed this Court's 30-year precedent, relying on the plain language of *PAWS*, which states that the deliberative process ends and records are no longer pre-decisional once funding (and thus implementation) of the proposal occurs. Citizen Action Def. Fund, 552 P.3d at 344; PAWS, 125 Wn.2d at 257. The Court of Appeals appropriately applied the four-part *PAWS* test to the statutory requirements of RCW 41.80.010, the State's collective bargaining laws.

State collective bargaining is a process governed by a statutory framework. The statutes mandate the steps before a CBA is final, including requirements for the Legislature and the Governor. State employee CBAs are bargained under RCW 41.80, RCW 41.56, and RCW 47.64.¹ The collective bargaining statutes specify that only the Governor and the Legislature acting jointly can bind the state to the provisions of a CBA. RCW 41.80.010 addresses "[n]egotiation and ratification of collective bargaining agreements [and] [f]unding to implement modification of certain collective bargaining agreements."

In applying *PAWS* to this case, the Court of Appeals properly held that the deliberative process exemption had not yet expired at the time of CADF's request because the tentative agreements had not even been submitted by the Governor as contemplated by RCW 41.80.010(3), much less approved and funded by the Legislature. *Citizen Action Def. Fund*, 552 P.3d

¹ The collective bargaining process is essentially the same under these statutes, so for ease of discussion, this brief uses RCW 41.80 as the reference point.

at 345. The court wrote, "Pursuant to *PAWS*, the deliberative process exemption applies until the proposal (in this case, the tentative agreement) is implemented. *PAWS*, 125 Wn.2d at 256-57. Implementation occurs when a proposal is approved by the entity tasked with granting such approval. *Id.* at 257." *Citizen Action Def. Fund*, 552 P.3d at 345. The court added, "Once the proposal becomes funded, it clearly becomes 'implemented' for purposes of this exemption. *Id.* Applying *PAWS* to RCW 41.80.010(3), implementation occurs when the Legislature approves the request to fund the CBA." *Id.*

PAWS provides a clear path for application of the deliberative process exemption to the records at issue here and The Court of Appeals' Opinion falls squarely within that test. The tentative agreements were not yet funded or executed as statutorily required. CADF misstates the role of the Legislature in collective bargaining and mischaracterizes how the requirement of Legislative funding relates to the deliberative process. Pet. at 13. Without Legislative approval of funding, the

tentative agreements cannot be implemented and therefore remain pre-decisional under the *PAWS* test. RCW 41.80.010(3); *PAWS*, 125 Wn.2d at 257; *Citizen Action Def. Fund*, 552 P.3d at 348. Legislative action is not a formality, nor is it an independent, unrelated decision; it is a key part of the statutory state collective bargaining process. The potential for ongoing deliberations still existed and the deliberative process therefore had not yet ended at the time of CADF's request. Under *PAWS* the records were pre-decisional.

The Court of Appeals Opinion is not in conflict with this Court's *PAWS* opinion and discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) is not appropriate.

B. Division II's Opinion Does Not Conflict with Division I's Opinions in West v. Port of Olympia and ACLU v. City of Seattle

CADF admits that the Court of Appeals was bound by this Court's test in *PAWS*. Pet. at 15. Yet, CADF argues that conflict exists between the divisions of the Court of Appeals and that the decision below conflicts with *West v. Port of* *Olympia*, 146 Wn. App. 108, 192 P.3d 926 (2008) and *American Civil Liberties Union of Washington v. City of Seattle*, 121 Wn. App. 544, 89 P.3d 295 (2004). *Id.* at 10-11. CADF misreads and overstates dicta in those cases.

CADF focuses on an implication in *ACLU* that policy deliberations are over once the policy is presented to relevant legislative body for approval as the main point of conflict. *Id.* Even if that were the rule, such an event had not yet occurred in this case at the time of CADF's request, so it is immaterial if the controlling event is presentation to or decision by the legislative body. Additionally, CADF's argument ignores the context of *West* and *ACLU* and the overriding application of *PAWS* across all cases.

CADF relies heavily on the single line from *ACLU* (discussed in *West*) that reads, "Until the results of this policy-making process are *presented* to the City Council for adoption, politicization and media comments will by definition inhibit the delicate balance —the give and take of the City's positions on

issues concerning the police department." (emphasis added). *ACLU*, 121 Wn. App. at 554. The court in *West* also referenced this line, noting that *ACLU* "impliedly held" that the deliberative process ended when the results of the policy-making process were presented to the city council. *West*, 146 Wn. App. at 118.

As noted, it does not matter to this case whether the determinative event is presentation to the legislative body or approval of the legislative body, because neither event had occurred at the time of CADF's request. Additionally, as the Court below noted, both *West* and CADF appear to take *ACLU's* statement out of context. *Citizen Action Def. Fund*, 552 P.3d at 347. The statement involving "presentment" in those cases was made in the context of the second *PAWS* factor, *i.e.*, whether disclosure would be injurious to the deliberative or consultative function of the process. *ACLU*, 121 Wn. App. at 554. That factor is not at issue in this case. *Citizen Action Def. Fund*, 552 P.3d at 347.

None of the cases discussed used presentment to the legislative body as the determinative factor for when records are no longer pre-decisional for purposes of the deliberative process exemption. In ACLU, the court ultimately remanded to the trial court for in camera review of the records to determine if the records were pre-decisional and contained sensitive information. ACLU, 121 Wn. App. at 550. In West, the question of "presentment" was a moot point since the lease at issue in West was long past being presented and had already been executed/implemented. West, 146 Wn. App. at 118. The court in West also cited PAWS for the rule that records are no longer pre-decisional or deliberative once *implemented* and held that the lease materials were disclosable under the implementation standard. Id. Similarly, in the present case, the Court of Appeals noted out that even if this earlier end point of "presentment" was applied, it would make no difference because at the time CADF requested the original offers from OFM, neither presentment nor implementation had occurred. *Citizen Action Def. Fund*, 552 P.3d at 347.

ACLU's single, indirect, non-dispositive reference to presentment in the context of whether premature release of bargaining materials is injurious to the negotiating process (which is not at issue here) can hardly be interpreted as adopting a rule that the deliberative process ends at the presentment stage rather than implementation. The Court of Appeals here was correct to hold that that the discussion of this issue in *West* is largely dictum, and that the *PAWS* test with its focus on implementation continues to be the consistent rule across all appellate decisions.

Despite CADF's suggestion, *West* and *ACLU* should not be read as ignoring the role of the Legislative branch in the contract-making process. *West* and *ACLU* involved fundamentally different processes. In both *West* and *ACLU*, the legislative and executive functions of contract negotiation and execution were performed by the same entity. The Court of

Appeals in this case pointed out that "*West* involved a port commission, an agency that performs both executive and legislative functions." *Citizen Action Def. Fund*, 552 P.3d at 348. Similarly, municipal collective bargaining for the City of Seattle is conducted by both legislative and executive members who approve terms before the tentative agreements are even signed.²

In contrast, state collective bargaining is more linear, with specific statutory steps that must be completed by each branch of government before the contracts can be implemented. *See*, *e.g.*, RCW 41.80.010 (negotiation, ratification and funding of state collective bargaining agreements); CP at 213 (Declaration of Gina Comeau, Labor Relations and Compensation Policy

² Patricia Lee, *Labor Relations in the City of Seattle*, Seattle City Council Central Staff (June 23, 2016)
 https://www.seattle.gov/Documents/Departments/Council/Com mittees/CentralStaff/TopicPapers/1a.-Labor-Relations-in-the-City-of-Seattle.pdf

Section Chief for OFM, describing state collective bargaining process).

In the state collective bargaining process, the Legislature may be aware of what terms are being discussed, but actual Legislative approval of legislation and funds necessary to implement the agreements does not occur until the conclusion of the Legislative process.

The common thread, regardless of whether bargaining is conducted by an entity performing legislative and executive functions in tandem or by co-equal branches of government operating in a more linear, sequential fashion, is that both Legislative and Executive approval is needed in some capacity before the deliberative process ends and the agreements can be implemented.

While the state Legislature acts separately from the Governor in the sense that these functions are not contained within a single entity, the Legislature is far from irrelevant to the decision-making process. The Legislature is a co-equal

branch of the same government, which like the Governor, has a specific statutorily and constitutionally mandated role to play in the multi-step deliberative process that is state collective bargaining. *See* RCW 41.80.010; Wash. Const. art. II, § 1, Wash. Const. art. VIII § 4.

The Court of Appeals correctly recognized the importance of both Legislative and Executive action in implementing the tentative agreements under RCW 41.80.010 and analyzed the records at issue in a manner consistent with the statutory requirements in conjunction with the plain language of *PAWS*. Its Opinion is not in conflict with its other decisions and discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b)(2) is not appropriate.

C. OFM Did Not Waive the Deliberative Process Exemption by Using the Word "offer" to Describe the State's Vaccine Incentive

CADF claims for the first time in its Petition that OFM waived the deliberative process exemption through use of the word "offered" in a letter summarizing tentative agreements

that was posted to OFM's website along with the tentative agreements. Pet. at 16; CP at 67 (letter from Michaela Doelman, Chief Human Resources Officer to David Schumacher, Director of OFM). Even if this issue were properly preserved, CADF fails to establish waiver.

CADF relies exclusively on *Zink v. City of Mesa*, 140 Wn. App. 328, 166 P.3d 738 (2007), *as amended on reconsideration* (Oct. 23, 2007). In *Zink*, the City referenced several times "written complaint[s]" as well as the specific content of those complaints as a basis for revoking the Zink's building permit. *Zink*, 140 Wn. App. at 344. The court held this public citation of complaints constituted waiver of the deliberative process exemption as to the complaints. *Id.* at 345.

The present case is nothing like *Zink*. The OFM letter does not cite—let alone detail the contents of—specific original offers or any underlying bargaining material or strategy. Rather, it describes on a high level the priorities and goals of the parties as reflected in the tentative agreements, which are required to

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